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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

GARY PALMER,
Plaintiff,

V. 6:19CV-114
(FISTWD)

SIMON’S AGENCY, INC.; and DOES 1-10,

Defendans.

APPEARANCES OF COUNSEL

LEMBERG LAW, LLC SERGEI LEMBERG, ESQ.

43 Danbury Road

Wilton, Connecticut 06897

Attorneys for Plaintiff

NEWMAN & LICKSTEIN STEVEN D. LICKSTEIN, ESQ.

109 South Warren Street MATTHEW GRANT JUBELT, ESQ.
Suite 404

Syracuse, New York 13202

Attorneys for Defendast

SCULLIN, Senior Judge

MEMORANDUM -DECISION AND ORDER

l. INTRODUCTION

Gary Palmer (“Plaintiff’) filed this action against Simon’s Agena.l(“Defendant”),
a collection agency, and “DoeslD,” Defendant’s employees who are individual collectors
whose identities are unknown to Plaintifiee Dkt. No. 1, Compl., at §{-8. Plaintiff alleges
four violations of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”) encasgd in one count.

Seeid. at 11 1723. He seeks statutory damages of $1,000.00, punitive damages, costs, and
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attorney’s feesSee generally id. Pending befa theCourt is Defendant’s motion to dismiss
Plaintiff’'s complaint for failure to state a clajpursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules
of Civil Proceduresee Dkt. No. 10, and Plaintiff's motion for leave to file an amended

complaint,see Dkt. No.17.

Il. BACKGROUND

A. Facts!

Plaintiff claimsthat he incurre@nd allegedly defaulted anfinancial obligatior{the
“debt”) to an original creditothat rendered medical serviceSee Dkt. No. 172 at |1 7 9.
According to Plaintiff, the debt was assigned or transferred to Defendant fotioalleto
attempted to collect the debt by placing calls to Plaintiff one or two times every dhgast
every day beginning in latsummer or earlyall of 2018. Seeid. at {110, 14-15. Plaintiff
allegeghat, when he answered the calls, he heard a prerecorded message instructing him th
the call was an attempt to collect a debt and to dial “one” to confirm his identitgyvilovafter
Plaintiff dialed “one,” the céawould disconnectSeeid. at § 16. Plaintiff further alleges that
on or around October 19, 2018, he sent a written request through Defendant’s website to ce
calling him; and, instead, only correspond with him via m&eid. at § 21. Despite ths
request, Plaintiff claims that Defendant continued to place at least thirty calts tvér a

three to fourr-week period.Seeid. at § 22.

In addition, Plaintiff alleges that he informed Defendant that he had enrollétandship

program” with the original creditor, pursuant to which he was to pay off the debtafinrestt

! The Court has drawn the following facts from the allegations in Plaintiff's prdgosended
complaint and has assumed their truth for purposes of Defendant’s m@&senkt. No. 172.
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payments.Seeid. at § 20. Plaintiff claimsthat he was not in default on any of those payments.
Seeid. As a result of Defendant’s actions, Plaintifintendghat he has suffered and continues
to suffer actual damages, including humibatianger, anxiety, emotional distress, fear,

frustration, and embarrassmer®eeid. at | 25.

B. Procedural history

Plaintiff filed his complaint in this action on January 25, 2@t Defendant subsequently
moved to dismisd.i See Dkt. Nos. 1, 10.Instead of filing a respond®y theApril 23, 2019,
deadline Plaintiff filed an Amended ComplaintSee Dkt. No. 13. Defendanthenfiled a reply
in further support of its motion to dismiss, whereby it alleged that PlamAffiended
Complaint violated=ederal and Local Rules of Civil Procedure in that it was untimely, without
leave of theCourt, not redined, and was futileSee Dkt. No. 14.

Plaintiff movedthe Courtto deem his Amended Complaint timely fileSee Dkt. No.
15. The Court denied this motion, ordered Plaintiff's untimely Amended Complaickestri
and instructed Plaintiff to file a response to Defendant’s motion to disisesPkt. No. 16.
“The Court cautigred Plaintiff that failure to comply with the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and this District’'s Local Rules of Practice in the future [migsulljtrin sanctions,
including the dismissal of this action3eeid. at 2. The Court also informed Plaintiff thhe
could movefor leave to file an amended complaigeeid.

On May 10, 2019, Plaintiff filed the pending motion for leave to file an amended

complaint, including a copy of Plaintiff's proposed amended complaint, which wdisedds




the Local Rules requiré.See Dkt. No. 17. Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiff's original

complaint is still pendingSee Dkt. No. 10.

l1l. DISCUSSION

A. Plaintiff's motion for leave to file an amended complaint

Rule 15 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure declares that “[t]he court $hemliid
give leave [to amend] when justice so requireéSeé Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2)ln Foman v.
Davis, the Supreme Court stated, “[i]f the underlying facts or circumstances relied upon by
plaintiff may be a proper subject of relief, he ought to be afforded an opportunity hestest
claim on the merits.”Foman v. Davis, 371 U.S. 178, 182 (1962Accordingto the Supreme
Court, however, a court may deny a motion for leave to amend for reasons “such as (1) und
delay, bad faith or dilatory motive on the part of the movant, (2) repeatect failaure
deficiencies by amendments previously allowed, (3) undue prejudice to the opposing party b
virtue of the allowance of the amendment, [or] (4) futility of amendmernit, Cummingsv.
FCA USLLC, 401 F. Supp. 3d 288, 302 (N.D.N.Y. 2019) (quoffiognan, 371 U.S. at 182, 83
S. Ct. 227SS Slberblatt, Inc. v. E. Harlem Pilot Block-Bldg. 1 Hous., 608 F.2d 28, 42 (2d

Cir. 1979)). “An amendment is considered futile if it could not withstand a motion to dismiss

2 However, as Defendant points out in its Memorandum in Opposition, Plaintifitiondid

not include an attorney affidavit, in violation of Local Rule 7.1(a)&%e Dkt. No. 19 at 8.The
Court finds that sanctioning Plaintiff's coun$&00 is appropriatir this omissiorbecause the
Courtalready warne®Plaintiff that his “failure to comply with the Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure and this District’'s Local Rules of Pradtmgght] result in sanction]” See Dkt. No.
16 at 2.

ue



pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Proced@kampion v. Kirkpatrick,
No. 9:18CV-1498 (MAD/ML), 2019 WL 4451255, *4 (N.D.N.Y. Sept. 17, 20%9).

Plaintiff contends that granting his motion for leave to amend his complaint would not
cause undue delay, would not unduly prejudice Defendant, and there is no evidence that it w
made in bd faith or with dilatory motivé. See Dkt. No. 171 at 56. Defendant does not
dispute this.See generally Dkt. No. 19. Further, although Plaintiff’s first attempt to amend his
complaint was untimely, there have not been “repeated failures” to cure deficigncies b
previously allowed amendment$herefore, the issue the Court must decide is whether
Plaintiff's proposed amended complaint is futile,, whether it can withstand a motion to
dismiss for failure to state a claim.

To state a claim for @iolation of the FDCPA, “a plaintiff must establish three elements:
(1) the plaintiff must be a ‘consumer’ who is alleged to owe a debt or the targetrtd &ffo
collect a consumer debt; (2) the defendant must be a ‘debt collector’; and (3fetheaddmust
have engaged in conduct violating FDCPA requiremerid&XNVolf v. Samaritan Hosp., No.

1:17-CV-277 (BKS/CFH), 2018 WL 3862679, *2 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 14, 2018) (Cit@rgz V.

3 Towithstand a motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)@);omplaint must contain
sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to “state a claim to relief that is |@aursits
face.”” Eliasv. Rolling SoneLLC, 872 F.3d 97, 104 (2d Cir. 2017) (dqung Ashcroft v. Igbal,
556 U.S. 662, 678, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009) (qur=ingtl. Corp. v.
Twombly, 550 U.S. 544570,127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007))Y.he plausibility
standard is not akin to a “probability requirement,” but it asks for more than apsissdoility
that a defendant has acted unlawfuNyhere a complaint pleads facts that are “merely
consistent with” a defendant’s liability, it “gie short of the line between possibility and
plausibility of entittlement to relief.””1d. (Qquaation omitted).

4 Plaintiff asserts that his ability to amend his complaint as of right expired Ap@i01B. See

Dkt. No. 171 at 5. He argues that he missed the deadline by six days because Plaintiff's
counsel mistakenly understood the April 23, 2019 deadline to respond to Defendant’s motiof
dismiss to encompassy response, includinthefiling of an amended complaingeeid.
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Credit Control Servs,, Inc., No. 17cv-1994, 2017 WL 519522%t*4, 2017 U.SDist. LEXIS

186125(E.D.N.Y. Nov. 8, 2017); 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d, 1692e, 1692f (prohibiting debt collectors

from engaging in specified debt collection practices)).

Defendant argues that Plaintiff has not alleged that his debt is a consumer debt cover
by the FDCPA. See Dkt. No. 19 atl0. The FDCPA provides that a “consumer” includes “any
natural person obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any débtl).S.C. § 1692a(3).

Plaintiff has alleged that he “incurred a financial obligatiomfiedical services rendered (the
‘Debt’) by a medical services provider, the original creditor (the ‘CredlitoSee Dkt. No. 17
2 at 1 7.Thus, the Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alleged he is a “consumer.”

Second, the FDCPA defines a “debs “any obligation or alleged obligation of a
consumer to pay money arising out of a transaction in which the money, property, insurance
services which are the subject of the transaction are primarily for persongy, or household
purposes, whether or not such obligation has been reduced to judgd®ent.S.C. 8 1692a(5).

In his proposed amended complaikaintiff alleged, “[t{jhe Debt arose from medical services
provided by the Creditor, and as such were primarily for family, personal or household purpg
and which meets the definition ofdebt’ under 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5)%ee Dkt. No. 172 at

1 8. Therefore, the Court additionally finds that Plaintiff has adequately allegedurecith@
“debt” covered by the FDCPA.

Next, Defendant argues that Plaintiff has not alleged it is a “debt collectatefiagd
by the FDCPASee Dkt. No. 19 at 10"The term ‘debt collector’ means any person who uses
any instrumentality of interstate commerce or the mails in any business thpgnmeposeof
which is the collection of any debts, or who regularly collects or attempts totcdltectly or

indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or due anoibdd.’S.C. § 1692a(6)in

ed
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his proposed amended complaint, Plaintiff alleges that “[Defendant] is engagedusithess
of collecting debts owed to its clients and, as such, regularly collects or &ttenspllect debts
owed or due or asserted to be owed or due to anotBee.Dkt. No. 172 at § 11.Specifically,
Plaintiff alleges, “[Defendant] represents on its website that it ‘has a provgre&Otrack

record of client satisfaction by leveraging stat¢he-art technology, onen-one client
relations and the vast experience of our management team andimguklii collections staff to
recover our clients’ outstanding receivableseid. at { 12 (citation omitted)Based on these
allegations, the Court finds that Plaintiff has adequately alleged that Defesdd‘debt
collector” as defined by the statute.

Finally, the Court must determine whether Plaintiff has adequately pled hisofause
action for violations of the FDCPA to survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss ford4o
state a claim, owhether amending that claim is futil®laintiff allegesfour different violations
of the FDCPA in his complaint.

First, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s conduct violated 15 U.S.C. § 169#t(bat
Defendants contacted Plaintiff after having received written notificatem Rlaintiff to cease
communication.” See Dkt. No. 172 at § 27.That section provides|iff a consumer notifies a
debt collector in writing that the consumer refuses to pay a debt or that the conssimesrtire
debt collector to cease further communication with the consumer, the debtocdhedt not
communicate further with the consunvath respect to such débéxcept “to advise the
consumer that the debt collector’s further efforts are being terminated,” ity thet consumer
that the debt collectar creditor may invoke specified remedies,” or “to notify the consumer
that the debtollectoror creditor intends to invoke a specified remedy5' U.S.C. 88 1692c(c);

1692c(c)(1)€3).




Plaintiff specifically alleges in hisroposecamended complaint that, “[o]n or around
October 19, 2018, Plaintiff sent a written request through [Defendant]’s website tha
[Defendant] cease calling him and, instead, only correspond with him via r8ed Dkt. No.

17-2 at 1 21.Plaintiff further alleges that, “[d]espite Plaintiff's written request, fEdelant]
continued to place at least thirty (3@lls to Plaintiff over a thre¢o fourweek period.” See

id. at 1 22.On those calls, Plaintiff alleges he heard a “prerecorded message instructing him
that the call was an attempt to collect a debt and to dial ‘one’ to confirm his ideisegid. at

1 23. Plaintiff also alleges that those calls were not for one of the excepted purpsseeti

in 15 U.S.C88 1692c(c)(1(3). At this stage in the proceedingsawingall reasonable
inferences in the light most favorable to Plaintiff, @aurt finds thahe sufficiently alleged a
cause of action against Defendant for violating § 1962c(c) of the FDCPA and, ftirdter
Plaintiff's proposecamended complainivould not be futilewith regard to this cause of action

Second, Plaintiff allegethat “Defendants’ conduct violated 15 U.S.C. 88 1692d and
1692d(5) in that Defendants engaged in behavior the natural consequence of which was to
harass, oppress, or abuse Plaintiff in connection with the collection of a &ebDkt. No. 17
2 at 28 One example of harassment or abuse listed in the statute inclojdessing a
telephone to ring or engaging any person in telephone conversation repeatedly or continuouy
with intent to annoy, abuse, or harass any person at the called nurhb&s.S.C. § 1692d(5).
Based on the facts outlined above, and Plaintié&iltinghumiliation, angeranxiety,
emotional distress, fear, frustration, and embarrassseeribkt. No. 172 at § 25, the Court
finds thatPlaintiff has plausibly stated a clamgainst Defendant for violating 88 1692d and
1692d(5) of the FDCPAAccordingly,Plaintiff’'s proposed amended complaint is not futile

with regard to these violations.
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Finally, Plaintiff alleges that Defendant’s conduct violated 15 U.S.C. § 1692&in
Defendant “used unfair and unconscionable means to collect a debt in that it (1)extteEmpt
collect a debt which Plaintiff had agreed with the Creditor to pay in installmedés the
Creditor’s ‘hardship program,” and Plaintiff was not in default onafrthose installment
payments, and (2) failed to verify with the Creditor whether Plaintiff had edrollthe
‘hardship program’ and whether Plaintiff was in default on any payments thereudeDkt.
No. 172 at 1 30.

As theDeWolf court noted, “[s]ection 1692f prohibits unfair debt collection practices,”
and it was “enacted specifically “to catch conduct not otherwise covered by the FEDCPA
because Congress was “[c]ognizant that it could not anticipate every improp&repuaet by
debt colleobrs.”” DeWolf, 2018 WL 3862679, at *5 (quotir@kyere v. Palisades Collection,
LLC, 961 F. Supp2d 522, 530 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (alternation in original) (quotingnson v.

BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP, 867 F. Supp. 2d 766, 7&P (E.D.NC. 2011))). In DeWolf,

the plaintiff claimed a violation of section 1692f, which the cdisinissed because he did not
specify which alleged misconduct violated that secti@se id. Furthermore, the unfair conduct
he alleged was already covered by a violation of another section of the FCEe@iAl.

Here, Plaintiff specifically alleges in his proposed amended complaint which ¢dreduc
claims was unfair and unconscionablattempting to collect a debt for which Plaintiff was not
in default and failing to verify whether the debt was in defatde Dkt. No. 172 at § 30.This
violation is different from Defendant’s repeated phone calls, disconnecting, amighggno
Plaintiff's written request to cease contacting him by telephdiés violation stems from the
reason that Defendant was allegedly hasiag Plaintiff and violating sections 1692¢(c) and

1692d, and the fact that Defendant failed to verify with the cretigarPlaintiff was not in




default after he informed it of suclor these reasons, the Court 8nldat Plaintiff adequately
alleged hat Defendant violated § 1692f of the FDCPA, and, therefore, any amendment to thi
claim is not futile. For all the abowstated reasonshe Court grants Plaintiff leave to amend

his complaint andthereforewill evaluate Defendais motion to dismiss wh reference to

Plaintiff's proposed amended complaint.

B. Defendant’s motion to dismiss

As a preliminary matter, as a result of the Court’s granting of Plaintiff's matidite an

amended complaint, Defendant’s motion to dismiss Plaintiff's original complaint is moo

In opposition to Plaintiff's motion to amend his complaint, Defendant argues)gealyithe
same arguments that it raised in support of its motion to dismiss the original icipé the
proposed amended complaint “still fails to plead facts to suggest the existerpeatifyang
‘debt’ or [that Defendant is] a ‘debt collector,” as such terms are defined undeD@ieA.”

See Dkt. No. 19 at 10 (citations omittedps explained above, however, the Court finds that
Plaintiff's proposed amended complaint does in fact state a plausible claim that Defendant
violated the FDCPATherefore, to the extéthat Defendant’s opposition to Plaintiff’'s motion
to file an amended complaint can be construed as a motion to dismiss thdedroemplaint,

the Court denies that motion as well.

V. CONCLUSION

After carefully considering the entire file in this matter, the parties’ submissamd the

applicable law, and for the abestated reasons, the Court hereby
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ORDERS that Plaintiffsmotion for leave to file an amended complaseg Dkt. No.
17, isGRANTED. Plaintiff must file any such amended complaint witfuarteen daysof the

date of this Memorandwmecision and Order; and the Court further

ORDERS that Defendant’snotion to dismiss Plaintiff' ®riginal complaintsee Dkt.

No. 10, isDENIED as moot; and the Court further

ORDERS that, to the etentthat Defendant’s opposition to Plaintiff’'s motion for leave
to file an amended complaint could be construed as a motion to dismiss the proposed amended

complaint, the CourDENIES that motion; and the Court further

ORDERS that this matter is referred to Magistrate Judge Dancks for all further pretria

matters and the Court further

ORDERS that, withinfourteen daysof the date of thislemorandumbecision and
Order, Plaintiff’'s counsel, Mr. Sergei Lemberg, Esq., shall mail a¢hethe amount of
$500° payable to the Clerk of the Court, Northern District of New York, to the fotigwi

address:

Clerk of the Court

U.S. District Court

Northern District of New York

James Hanley U.S. Cohduseand Federal Building, 7th Floor
100 SuthClinton Street

Syracuse, Bw York 13261-7367

5 It is well-settled that “[t]he court has inherent power to sanction parties and their att@neys
power born of the practical necegdihat courts be able to ‘to manage their own affairs so as tg
achieve the orderly and expeditious disposition of casé&Vson v. Cinque & Cinque, P.C.,

221 F.3d 71, 78 (2d Cir. 2000) (quoti@gambersv. NASCO, Inc., 501 U.S. 32, 43, 111 S. Ct.
2123, 115 L. Ed. 2d 27 (1991)T.he Court finds that a $500 sanction will promote respect for
the litigation process without creating a chilling effect on attorney creativaygwocacy.
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as a sanction for repeated failures to comply with this District’s LiRakds, even after the
Court advised him that any further failure to comply with these Rules might mresog i
imposition of sanctions.

Plaintiff's counsel shall also reference tMemorandunbecision and Order on his

check.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: March 23, 2020 ’
Syracuse, New York W@&_
Freder#k J .nS(culhn, Jr.
Senior United States District Judge
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